
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor B Garden Councillor D Page
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor P Kelly Councillor R J Wells
Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 8 March 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 8 March 2016

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 15 December 2015 (Pages 1 - 16)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 17 - 20)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 February 2016 to 30 June 2016. 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 15 December 2015 (Pages 21 - 24)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 15 December 2015. 

8. Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust (Pages 25 - 26) SD (IS)
To receive an update on the work of the Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust. 

9. Healthwatch Kent (Pages 27 - 28) SD (IS)
To receive a report on the services provided by Healthwatch Kent. 

10. Education Provision in Dartford (Pages 29 - 36) SD (IS)
To receive a briefing on the future plans for education provision in 
Dartford. 



11. Healthy Living Centre Dartford (Pages 37 - 58) SD (IS)
To receive a briefing on the work that is carried out at the Healthy 
Living Centre Dartford. 

12. Universal Credit Update (Pages 59 - 60) SD (IS)
To provide Members with a brief update on Universal Credit. 

13. Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators (Pages 61 - 70) SD (IS)
This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan performance 
indicators for quarter 3 of 2015-16. 

14. Policy Overview Committee Protocol & Lead Member 
Participation (Pages 71 - 90)

SD (IS)

To consider the revised Policy Overview Committee Protocol which 
details the process for Lead Member participation in the Committee’s 
proceedings. 

15. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 91 - 96) SD (IS)
This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan. 



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 15 
December 2015 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Page (Shadow Chairman)
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor B Garden
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Julie Hunt – Director for Performance Delivery, 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Andrew Scott-
Clark

– Director of Public Health

Mrs Patricia 
Chapman

– Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Adrian Gowan – Policy and Corporate Support 

Manager
Nick Scott – Head of Revenues and Benefits
Hayley Brooks – Health and Communities Manager
Kashmir Powar – Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator

23. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S H Brown, B Garden, 
M B Kelly, J M Ozog and A Sandhu, MBE.

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

2

25. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 1 SEPTEMBER 2015 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 1 
September 2015 be confirmed.

26. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

27. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

28. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 16 November 
2015 to 31 March 2016, be noted.

29. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 1 SEPTEMBER 2015 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 1 September 2015.

RESOLVED:

That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held on 1 
September 2015 be noted.

30. DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 

The Chairman welcomed Julie Hunt, Director for Performance Delivery for 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS 
CCG) to the meeting, who was present to provide an update on progress 
being made within DSG CCG.

The Director for Performance Delivery began by putting the work carried out 
by the CCG into context and said that the DSG CCG area had a current 
population of 258,000 but was growing fast. She then explained how they 
were responsible for urgent and emergency care, elective care, maternity and 
children’s services, community health, mental health, learning disability and 
continuing healthcare services, but did not cover primary care, public health, 
specialist services or health care in prisons and the armed forces. She then 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

3

noted that the CCG Commissioning budget for 2015/16 had been £303 
million.

The Director for Performance Delivery then explained how the DGS area was 
in the bottom 20% of the national deprivation index and how this was linked to 
lower life expectancy and the early onset of chronic disease. She said that 
there was an 8 year difference in life expectancy across the area and that 
22% of year six children were classed as over-weight. She then noted that 
73% of all deaths were related to cancer, circulatory or respiratory disease 
conditions, which was similar to other CCG areas, and highlighted the high 
levels of DSG hospital admissions that were linked to long term conditions.

The Director for Performance Delivery then referred to the challenges being 
faced by the CCG and said that they would be striving to reduce health 
inequalities, address workforce concerns, maintain good performance and 
respond to growth and funding constraints as well as managing the public’s 
confidence and their expectations in relation to the services being provided.

The Director for Performance Delivery then noted the workforce issues and 
low morale that existed in primary care and the fact that an additional 27 GPs 
will be required over the next 15 years to meet the forecast growth in 
population, and that, when the retirement of current GPs is also taken into 
consideration, it is anticipated that at least 40 new GPs will be required for the 
area. She then noted how difficult it was to recruit GPs and highlighted the 
shift of balance taking place for newly qualified doctors where fewer now wish 
to become GPs and more wish to become hospital doctors. She then referred 
to the high vacancy and sickness rates in community and mental health 
services in north Kent, the budget and staffing impacts of a move towards 7 
day working, and the fact that GPs were being attracted away by the higher 
rates of pay available for those working in London.

In relation to performance the Director for Performance Delivery said that 
performance in 2014/15 had been good but added that more challenges were 
being faced this year. She noted how the services being provided by Dartford 
and Gravesham NHS Trust were being stretched due to population growth 
and referred to the limited capacity available within the existing infrastructure. 
She highlighted how community, mental health and ambulance services were 
also being stretched and the fact that the areas of social care and public 
health were being required to make year on year financial savings.

With respect to growth the Director for Performance Delivery advised that 
there were expected to be 50,000 new residents in the area by 2031, 27,000 
of which would be located in Ebbsfleet Garden City with the remainder in 
other areas. She also noted that additional growth in the Bexley area would 
also impact on the services being provided by Darent Valley Hospital. She 
then referred to the proposed London Paramount development and the fact 
that no additional NHS funding was being made available to provide health 
services for the 5,000 transient construction workers or the anticipated 50,000 
to 90,000 daily visitors to the attraction once opened.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

4

The Director for Performance Delivery then advised that an additional £50 
million per annum would be required by 2031 in order to provide services for 
the predicted population growth and that, as there would be an average two to 
three year revenue funding delay in year-on-year growth, as it is not 
retrospectively funded, there was a risk that this might result in a funding gap 
of £150 million. She also said that at least £135 million of capital funding 
would be required in order that GP surgeries and additional hospital facilities 
may be built although the source of this funding had yet to be identified.

The Director for Performance Delivery said that a CCG planning committee 
had been established with all local stakeholders involved, including Dartford 
Borough Council’s strategic planners. She also noted that a CCG led ‘Healthy 
New Towns’ bid had been made and that they were waiting to see whether 
they had been successful. She then said that a CCG chaired Local Estates 
Forum had recently been formed to ensure whole system estates solutions 
across health and social care and that it included local Council representation. 
She then added that they were continuing to work with NHS England, the 
Department for Communities and Local Government, and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to secure other necessary funding, but had yet to 
be successful.

The Director for Performance Delivery then referred to the CCG’s local 
priorities and said that they would continue to focus on reducing health 
inequalities and improving the quality of care and patient experience. She said 
they would also look at greater integration in order to improve efficiency and 
would also look into the use of improved technology to enable more effective 
patient care and promote independence. She then referred to an iPhone app 
which can be used to monitor those with balance problems and send an alert 
if a problem is detected as an example.

The Director for Performance Delivery said that the CCG will look at securing 
sufficient resources to manage the expected growth (workforce, infrastructure 
and finance) and ensure that every child has the best start in life. They will 
also support people and encourage them to take greater responsibility for 
their health and wellbeing. Local access to good quality care for people with 
long term conditions will help them to maintain their independence, as will the 
assessment, early treatment and support that will be provided to those people 
with mental health conditions and dementia.

In relation to prevention the Director for Performance Delivery said that 
specific focus would be made on obesity with a strategy and local action plan 
being formulated through the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health and 
Wellbeing Board. A ‘physical inactivity’ pilot is to be established in GP 
surgeries and a ‘falls prevention’ pathway developed. An expression of 
interest for a diabetes prevention programme has also been received due to 
the high levels of diabetes that exist in the DGS area.

The Director for Performance Delivery then noted the specific priorities for 
2015 – 17 and said that Integrated Primary Care Teams (IPCTs) would be 
rolled out to manage long term patients and that an Integrated Discharge 
Team (IDT) would manage the hospital patient discharge process. She said 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

5

that a review and re-procurement of dermatology, ophthalmology and neuro-
rehab services would commence in April 2016 and that adult community 
services would also be procured. GP direct listings for endoscopy services 
would also be enabled and greater efficiencies sought with commissioned 
providers. She then noted that 42 ambulatory care pathways had been 
developed and said that 9 had already been introduced at Darent Valley 
Hospital with a further 9 planned for introduction next year, although she also 
noted that specialist staff would be needed to manage the pathways. Key 
services areas such as diabetes and children’s services would also be 
enhanced and, following a pilot exercise in Swale, Paramedic Practitioners 
who are able to perform enhanced procedures would be introduced in the 
community to work alongside GPs on a rotation basis.

The Director for Performance Delivery then said that a review of urgent care 
and out of hours services in light of recent national guidance would also be 
carried out and that the delegated commissioning of GP services from NHS 
England would also be taken on.

In Summary the Director for Performance Delivery noted that a lot had been 
achieved in three years but said that a transformation of services was now 
required to ensure sustainability. She said that partnership working across 
health, social care and with local Councils was required at all levels to support 
improved health outcomes and wellbeing for the local population and 
identified population growth as the single biggest long term risk as the 
associated additional funding required to meet predicted needs had not yet 
been secured.

The Chairman thanked the Director for Performance Delivery for her 
presentation and expressed concern at the funding issues that had been 
highlighted and the impact that a transient population would have on local 
health service provision. He also welcomed the ‘Healthy New Towns’ bid that 
was being made and proposed that a letter be written to the Secretary of 
State on behalf of the Committee expressing support for the bid and 
highlighting the Committee’s concern at the funding issues that had been 
raised during the presentation. Members endorsed this proposal. The Director 
for Performance Delivery noted that Dartford Borough Council was 
represented on the groups that had supported the bid but said that further 
lobbying would be welcome. She also noted the CCG’s involvement in the 
planning process and highlighted the need to limit the number of fast food 
establishments in a particular area in order that people’s health and wellbeing 
may be protected and improved. She said that it was important that those with 
an interest were seen to work in partnership and present a united front.

In response to a question the Director for Performance Delivery confirmed 
that the CCG was working with Public Health to address childhood obesity 
and that this area formed part of its work programme.

Members then referred to the pressures that are placed on health providers in 
winter and noted the high demand for beds that had been reported for Darent 
Valley Hospital. The Director for Performance Delivery agreed that hospital 
bed occupancy rates had been a problem and said that A&E had struggled at 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

6

times as the occupancy rate had approached 100%. She said that plans had 
been put in place and that fortnightly meetings were being held with partners 
during this critical time in order to keep patients flowing through the system. 
She noted that those with dementia or requiring continuous health care can 
be a particular problem if care home places cannot be found for them. She 
also noted that the flu vaccination campaign had gone well and hoped that 
this would help control the number presenting with flu related symptoms.

In response to a question relating to GP practices the Director for 
Performance Delivery confirmed that at least 40 new GPs would need to be 
appointed by 2031, 27 due to population growth and 13 to replace existing 
GPs who have retired. She also added that in order to achieve this it would be 
necessary to consider strategies that would attract new GPs to the area. She 
then advised that, on average, each GP provides support for 3,000 patients 
and that locums are used to cover any shortfalls.

Members then referred to the responsibilities that are associated with the 
provision of primary care and the Director for Performance Delivery explained 
how GPs are commissioned by NHS England. She then noted how the CCG 
ensured that GPs were working at an optimum level and were providing a 
service which delivered high quality care. She also noted that the CCG 
included GP members who had direct involvement in the running of the CCG.

Members then asked how the £135 million of capital funding would be spent 
and were advised by the Director for Performance Delivery that it was 
anticipated that most of those moving into the areas proposed for 
development would be families and that additional beds and services for 
children would need to be provided. She also anticipated that the capacity of 
Darent Valley Hospital’s maternity unit would need to be increased from 5,000 
to 6,000 births per year. She said that the funding would also be used to 
provide premises for GPs, additional care home facilities and diagnostic 
centres.

The Director for Performance Delivery was then asked to comment on the 
Government’s cut to student nurse grants and replied that the CCG would not 
involve themselves in the political debate associated with the financing of 
student nurse training, but would continue to press for further investment in 
order that additional training places may be provided.

Reference was then made to the Government’s funding Plan for the NHS and 
the Director for Performance Delivery advised that no additional funding had 
yet been received and that the investment was being spread over the life of 
the parliament. She said that the increase would only address the deficiencies 
that had already been built up and that, going forward, the budget would 
continue to be stretched by the increasing demand for health related services.

The Chairman thanked the Director for Performance Delivery for taking the 
time to attend and update Members and invited her to return in 6 months’ time 
to provide a further update.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

7

RESOLVED:

1. That Julie Hunt be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Julie Hunt be noted.

3. That a letter expressing concern at the funding issues that were raised 
during the debate, together with the Committee’s support for the CCG’s 
‘Healthy New Towns’ bid, be written to the Secretary of State.

4. That the CCG be invited back to provide a further update to the 
Committee at their June 2016 meeting.

31. KENT PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE 

The Chairman welcomed Andrew Scott-Clark, Director of Public Health, to the 
meeting. Mr Scott-Clark was present to provide an update on the services 
being provided by the Kent Public Health Service.

The Director of Public Health began by saying that many of the health related 
conditions that were being seen had occurred because of lifestyle choices and 
identified smoking, obesity and mental health as three significant areas where 
preventative action would deliver improved health. He commented on the 
greater prevalence of such issues in deprived communities. He then noted the 
predicted 15 to 20% Public Health funding reduction to Local Authorities over 
next five years, but was unsure what the actual impact would be on Kent’s 
budget until details of the Government’s funding settlement had been 
published.

The Director of Public Health then referred to the ‘Adult Health Improvement’ 
programme and said that smoking, drug/alcohol abuse, sexual health, fall 
prevention and social isolation were all areas which can be addressed from a 
lifestyle perspective. He then added that for areas such as smoking and drug 
abuse emphasis would be put on discouraging people from starting rather 
than targeting those who already smoked or used drugs. He also referred to 
programmes which focused on healthy weight and explained how 
preventative action can be taken in all areas to ensure that people are not 
burdened with chronic illness for the last 20 or so years of their lives.

The Director of Public Health then described the ‘Healthy Child Programme’ 
and said that it aimed to give children the best start in life by beginning before 
birth. He also referred to an associated consultation that was about to close 
which asked for views on the commissioning of public health services for 
children and young people. He said that the programme would also identify 
emotional needs and address areas such as smoking, drug abuse and sexual 
health as children reached their teens. He also noted that funding is also 
provided to children’s centres, and used for schemes such as the troubled 
families programme.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

8

The Director of Public Health then drew Members’ attention to a timeline 
which showed how the public health commissioning programme would be 
progressed from its current form towards the provision of a more holistic 
service. He referred to a second Kent consultation which was asking whether 
the proposed model for Health Improvement Services would meet the needs 
of Kent’s residents in an accessible and holistic way. He said that focus 
groups had been used and discussions held with providers during preparation 
of the revised commissioning programme and said that as Kent would be re-
procuring contracts he felt that they were in a relatively good position.

The Director of Public Health then referred to the key outcomes identified and 
noted their relevance to Dartford. He said that some services, for example 
those related to sexual health, or the requirement to carry out health checks, 
were mandated and that public health also worked with CCG to deliver other 
services.

The Director of Public Health then noted how the review process had aimed to 
deliver a holistic approach, had focused on the agreed outcomes, and had 
analysed spending with a view to achieving value for money. It had also 
considered service performance and had looked at how services are provided 
by other Local Authorities. The process had also sought the involvement of 
partner organisations and had captured residents’ views through public 
consultation.

In relation to the challenges facing public health the Director of Public Health 
noted that action taken to encourage people to stop smoking may have had a 
negative impact on health inequality by targeting those in less deprived areas 
who wished to stop smoking themselves and not focusing on those less likely 
to give up. He also noted the need to encourage behaviour change and self-
management in order to discourage people before they start risking their 
health. The service providers themselves also need to have the quality of the 
service that they provide monitored, and be held to account if they fail to 
deliver the required outcomes.

The Director of Public Health then referred to the Local Public Health Model 
and the need to promote health to the whole population and motivate them to 
take good care of themselves. He highlighted the importance of taking regular 
exercise and said that a brisk walk helps to keep people healthy. He also said 
that universal access should be provided to health services and noted the 
pressure that population growth and future increases in visitor numbers would 
place on the health service provision. He said that they would work hard to 
ensure that the required services are delivered by working closely with local 
communities.

The Director of Public Health then highlighted health inequality and described 
how the ‘Mind the Gap’ initiative had helped to raise awareness in this area. 
He then referred to a new initiative, currently called ‘Bridging the Gap’, which 
would aim to focus on local populations where life expectancy is significantly 
below that expected and identify what work is required going forward. He then 
noted how life expectancy for those in Kent in the lowest deprivation decile 
was below the anticipated level. He said that areas classified in this way 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

9

occurred in small clusters, some of which were in Dartford, and that it would 
be necessary to apply a disproportionate response in order to address these 
areas of health inequality. The Director of Public Health said that, moving 
forward, a Public Health Annual Report for 2015 would be produced to identify 
the progress that had been made in addressing health inequalities and that 
the new ‘Bridging the Gap’ strategy and plan would be developed to further 
target health inequality.

The Director of Public Health described the Health Improvement Deal where 
funding is provided to local districts to improve local health and said that it 
covered planning, environment, leisure services, alcohol licensing, community 
safety, housing and “community” areas. He then noted how it can be used to 
help ensure that major developments such as Ebbsfleet Garden City have 
health provision planned in.

The Director of Public Health then noted how they were working to integrate 
anonymous statistical data from a variety of sources to enable smarter 
analysis to be carried out. This would allow the effectiveness of various 
schemes to be assessed for various population groups and enable informed 
planning to be carried out in the future. He said that Kent were the first area to 
be doing this and noted how it would help when producing the ‘Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment’, identifying co-commissioning opportunities, and forming 
strategies to provide support to people in the community rather than having 
them go to hospital for that support.

The Chairman thanked the Director of Public Health for the update and 
welcomed the holistic approach that was being taken. He also supported the 
intended team approach and stressed the need for all interested parties to 
work together for residents.

The Director of Public Health then referred to a question that had been asked 
earlier and explained how the term ‘primary care’ referred to those providing 
front line health services, which included GP, pharmacy, dentistry and 
ophthalmic services. He said that NHS England were responsible for service 
commissioning in these areas, but noted that the CCG and other 
commissioning groups monitor the quality of the GP commissioning process. 
In response to a question he confirmed that, as the CCG and NHS England 
worked closely together, these commissioning arrangements worked well. He 
then noted that Public Health were responsible for service promotion and 
emphasised how its own services were integrated with those provided by the 
CCG and local authorities.

The Chairman thanked the Director of Public Health for attending and 
providing an update for Members and, if no local issues requiring an earlier 
update were identified, invited him to return in 12 months’ time to provide a 
further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Scott-Clark be thanked for attending the meeting and 
responding to Members’ questions.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

10

2. That the information provided by Mr Scott-Clark be noted.

3. That Mr Scott-Clark be invited back to provide a further update to the 
Committee at their December 2016 meeting.

32. DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL REPORT 
2014/15 AND NEW HEALTH INEQUALITIES ACTION PLAN 2015 - 2018 

This report updated the Committee on the outcomes of various Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2014/15 and also asked 
Members to consider the new three year Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan 2016 - 2018.

The Chairman welcomed Hayley Brooks, Health and Communities Manager, 
Sevenoaks District Council, to the meeting.

The Health and Communities Manager explained that preventative health 
work in Dartford was managed through a shared service arrangement with 
Sevenoaks District Council. She then described the service that was being 
provided and how it was structured and explained how funding had been 
made available to deliver preventative health work since 2008. She said that 
programmes had been developed to address issues such as weight and 
mental health related conditions and said that, following a review, the current 
agreement to provide services had been extended and was now scheduled to 
run until September 2016. She then referred to the Annual Report for 2014/15 
and highlighted the weight related achievements and family oriented 
programmes that had been delivered. She made particular reference to the 
beneficial outcomes that had been delivered by the weight related 
programmes and the increased amount of physical activity that had been 
recorded. She then introduced Kashmir Powar, the new Healthy Lifestyles Co-
ordinator, who would be providing preventative health related support for the 
projects being run in Dartford. She said that the data gathered on each 
programme is monitored quarterly to help identify other health related areas 
where beneficial help could be provided. She noted how they were engaging 
with residents, especially those in the most deprived areas, to motivate them 
and encourage them to change their behaviour.

Members noted that one of the planned Dynamo club weight management 
programmes had had to be cancelled due to a lack of referrals and, given the 
significant number of children who were being identified as obese, asked 
whether more could be done to promote such programmes. The Health and 
Communities Manager replied that they were working on ways to increase the 
number of referrals received and referred to the weight measuring exercises 
that are carried out in schools and the need to encourage targeted 
interventions at a family level to address the obesity problem in children. She 
also noted how GPs were also being encouraged to make referrals and the 
need to form pathways so that the efforts of all those involved in the 
monitoring process can be linked up. She said that the school weight 
monitoring process is carried out by contractors and noted the difficulties that 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

11

can be experienced if there is a need to raise the issue of child obesity with a 
family.

The Health and Communities Manager confirmed that any action taken to 
help reduce obesity in children would be welcomed and noted how those 
monitoring weight in schools would be encouraged to intervene when cases of 
child obesity are identified. The Director of Public Health advised that there 
was no single answer to obesity and said that a life course approach needed 
to be taken and that health visitors, who visit families and therefore see pre-
school aged children, should also be identifying those at risk of becoming 
obese and offering advice accordingly. He noted how it was necessary to 
target support and provide dietary advice, and also stressed the importance of 
regular exercise when addressing obesity. He also said that it was important 
to work at a family level and not stigmatise children with weight related issues.

The Chairman referred to the facilities that were being provided by the Council 
to encourage people to exercise and said that he recognised the sensitivities 
involved when having to approach the parents of a child who has been 
identified as obese. Members also referred to the Dartford Area Schools’ 
Consortium (DASCo) and thought that this body could be used to ensure a 
co-ordinated approach is taken when dealing with child obesity. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) said DASCo was represented on the Dartford 
Children and Young People’s Board and that the Board was itself a sub group 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board and was therefore in a good position to 
ensure that information on how best to approach child obesity is shared 
between the relevant groups. She also said that this was an area that even 
those with experience struggle to deal with and said that obesity related 
training was being provided to GPs in order that they may identify and have 
the confidence to tackle childhood obesity.

The Director of Public Health noted that in its autumn spending review the 
Government had announced that it would continue to take a national lead on 
childhood obesity planning, and would detail how in its 2016 Childhood 
Obesity strategy. He also noted how the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines classed obesity as a clinical condition.

Members referred to exercise and felt that those children who are members of 
scouting groups, or attend youth clubs, tended to lead more active lives. It 
was also suggested that children would benefit from regular exercise sessions 
before the start of school, or by encouraging them to walk or cycle to school.

Members asked that their thanks be passed to all those involved in the 
delivery of preventative health related initiatives and hoped that funding would 
continue to be provided to enable them to continue beyond September 2016.

Members then considered the new Health Inequalities Action Plan and the 
Chairman noted that he had asked that it be amended so that more emphasis 
is placed on the need to address poor air quality for those living in areas 
where air pollution is known to be a problem. He also noted that, as the 
previous Plan had covered the period from 2013 to 2015, the new one would 
run from 2016 to 2018. He then stressed the importance of the document and 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

12

noted how it is used to support funding requests. Members welcomed the 
focus being placed on identified life expectancy differences and the ongoing 
work to address obesity in the Borough.

The Chairman thanked the Health and Communities Manager for attending 
and asked that consideration of the Dartford Preventative Health Projects - 
Annual Report 2015/16 be scheduled for December 2016.

RESOLVED:

1. That the outcomes of the Dartford Preventative Health Projects for the 
financial year 2014/15 be noted.

2. That the Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan 2016 - 2018 be 
amended as described in the above minute and recommended to 
Cabinet for adoption.

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Strategic Director (External 
Services), in consultation with the Chairman, to make any other 
amendments which may need to be made to the Action Plan in the light 
of continuing discussions with partners, prior to submission to Cabinet, 
subject to those amendments not affecting the overall direction of the 
Dartford Health Equalities Plan.

4. That consideration of the Dartford Preventative Health Projects - 
Annual Report 2015/16 be scheduled for December 2016.

33. UNIVERSAL CREDIT AND WELFARE REFORM UPDATE 

This report provided Members with an update on Universal Credit (UC) and 
Welfare Reform affecting Housing Benefit.

The Chairman welcomed Nick Scott, Head of Revenues and Benefits, to the 
meeting and noted that the Committee would be receiving a further update 
at their March 2016 meeting.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits began by referring to the national 
rollout of UC and noted how the project had been delayed and rescheduled 
at various stages and how its rollout continued to progress at a slow pace. 
He noted that, as of 8 October 2015, 141,000 people were in receipt of UC 
nationally, as opposed to the 8 million that had been forecast in the original 
rollout schedule. He then advised that a new ‘digital solution’ IT system was 
being trialled prior to its nationwide release and said that current UC claims 
will be moved to this new system from May 2016. He then said that the 
processing of new housing and other legacy benefits related UC claims 
would begin in 2017 and that claimants who approached the Council would 
be offered assistance and be referred on to the job centre. The managed 
migration of existing claims is currently scheduled to start in 2018 with a 
target end date of 2020/21.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

13

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then advised that single, unemployed 
claimants with no housing cost liabilities would be required to claim UC in 
Dartford from January 2016 and that the similar ‘go live’ date for Sevenoaks 
had been 12 October 2015. He then drew Members’ attention to the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) UC claim projections for Dartford 
for the period up until March 2017 and referred to the associated online and 
budgeting support that the Council would be providing for customers under 
a Delivery Partnership Agreement (DPA). The Head of Revenues and 
Benefits said that the DPA provided details of the services to be provided 
and described how costs incurred under this agreement are reimbursed by 
the DWP. He then advised that since UC had gone live in Sevenoaks on 12 
October 2015 no DPA related support had been given and therefore 
questioned whether the projections that had been supplied by the DWP 
were realistic.

Members referred to the concerns that had been expressed by some of their 
constituents who were worried at the prospect of being transferred to UC 
and asked whether advice would be given before any changes are made. 
The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that existing benefits claimants 
should be advised that no changes would be made to their claims until the 
migration schedule (which is currently due to start in 2018) is known. He 
also noted how those who currently deliver the Council’s HERO (Housing, 
Energy and Retraining Options) service would be trained to provide UC 
related advice to concerned residents.

In response to questions relating to the advice being provided by the HERO 
service and the way that it is currently funded the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits said that funding is provided from the Housing budget. He then 
noted that, as long as the advice being given falls within the scope of the 
DPA, the cost of providing future advice relating to UC and budget 
management would be invoiced to the DWP. The Strategic Director 
(External Services) confirmed that the HERO service was currently targeted 
at tenants and was funded by Housing. She said that it provided advice in 
areas such as benefit entitlement and energy supplier switching. She noted 
how the service had started in Sevenoaks and that, following its success, 
had been introduced in Dartford. She also referred to the significant funding 
that the Council provides to the Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau, who are 
also able to provide benefit and budgeting advice to residents.

Members then asked further questions in relation to the UC information and 
assistance that would be made available to residents, particularly those who 
are old or vulnerable, and asked whether the Council would be promoting 
their advice service and enhancing it as the rollout of UC progresses. They 
also stressed the need to ensure that the impact of the change to UC is kept 
to a minimum in order to avoid situations where tenants find themselves in 
rent arrears. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that the DWP 
would be engaging with those who need to apply for UC and that its 
introduction would not impact elderly residents as it only applies to those 
who are of working age. He said that the support service would not be 
promoted as it would only be required to provide support to those who have 
been referred to the Council from the job centre and that the assistance 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

14

provided would have to adhere to the terms and conditions defined in the 
DPA. The Strategic Director (External Services) also advised that Housing 
were fully aware of the potential impact that the introduction of UC might 
have on rent payments and would work with tenants to resolve any issues 
that may arise. She also noted that the initial UC impact would be small and 
would give the Council an opportunity to assess how best to address these 
issues before the number being migrated to UC becomes more significant.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then referred to other welfare reforms 
and described how Local Housing Allowance rates were to be frozen for the 
next 4 years and the impact this would have on tenants who may find 
themselves worse off if their rents continue to rise during this period. 
Members noted the landlord and tenant forums that are held by the Council 
and hoped their meetings will be used to highlight the potential issues that 
might arise when this freeze is introduced.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then noted that the ability to apply a 
family premium to new Housing Benefit claims was being removed. He 
emphasised that this change only applied to new claimants and said that 
existing recipients would not be affected. He then advised that current ability 
to backdate Housing Benefit claims by 6 months was also being reduced to 
1 month.

Member noted the changes and asked whether moves were being made to 
ensure that residents were being made aware of these changes. The Head 
of Revenues and Benefits replied that related application forms and 
guidance notes would be updated and the changes would be included on 
the Council’s website and that other ways of publicising these changes 
would also be considered.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then referred to the benefit cap 
reductions that are planned and advised that, as the impact of this change 
could potentially be significant, the Council would be contacting those 
affected once the commencement date for the change had been confirmed. 
He also advised that his understanding was that the new cap would be 
applied as soon as it is introduced and that there would be no transitional 
arrangements made. Members referred to the impact that this would have 
on some residents and the need to provide assistance to those actively 
seeking work. Members also noted the potential associated increase in 
demand for discretionary housing payments and suggested that the 
Discretionary Housing Payments Panel be used to oversee how the budget 
is utilised. The Head of Revenues and Benefits said that officers always aim 
to process discretionary housing payment applications quickly and work to 
ensure that the available funding is used effectively.

The Chairman thanked the Head of Revenues and Benefits for attending.

RESOLVED:

That the information contained in the report be noted.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

15

34. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 2 of 2015-16.

The Chairman advised that this report had already been considered by 
Cabinet and the Cabinet Advisory Panel, and that the indicator relating to 
waste recycling targets had also been the subject of a question at the 
General Assembly of the Council.

The Chairman then noted that the 2015 – 16 outturn for the percentage of 
household waste recycled or composted had been predicted to be 28% and 
hoped that the marketing being carried out to promote the garden waste 
collection service would increase recycling rates in this area. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) advised that the introduction of food waste 
recycling would deliver the biggest rise in recycling rates but said that, as 
this would be considered to be a material change to the current contract, it 
could not be considered until the contract is retendered in 2019 when, as 
the contract renewal date will then coincide with those of other west Kent 
Local Authorities, the possible joint procurement of waste collection services 
can also be considered in order to minimise the associated cost to the 
Council.

It was also suggested that failed or delayed waste collections might be 
causing increased levels of contaminated recycling resulting in higher levels 
of rejection.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

35. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

The Chairman noted that the planned visit by Sharon Phillips from the 
Healthy Living Centre Dartford had been rescheduled for March 2016.

The Chairman also confirmed the following additions, which had been 
agreed during the discussion of previous agenda items:

 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group – 
June 2016

 Kent Public Health Service – December 2016
 Dartford Preventative Health Projects – Annual Report 2015/16 – 

December 2016

Members then noted the concerns that had been raised by the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel on 30 November 2015 in relation to the costs associated 
with the provision of temporary accommodation and agreed that the Head of 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 15 DECEMBER 2015

16

Housing be invited to their June 2016 meeting in order that the associated 
spending strategy may be explored.

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the amendments minuted above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 10.00 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN



15 February 2016 - 30 June 2016

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2016/17

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2016/17, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2016/17, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2016/17, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2016/17 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
22 Feb 2016

General budget 
consultation Friday 4 
December 2015 to 
Tuesday 2 February 
2016

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of Housing Benefit 
Overpayments

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Council Tax

To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to 
obtain payment because the 
taxpayer cannot be traced or the 
debt is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
3 Mar 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01322 343007
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 15 DECEMBER 2015

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
15 December 2015 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for a more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 15 
December 2015 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 At their meeting on 15 December 2015, during 

consideration of the item relating to the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Members asked that a letter be written to the 
Secretary of State expressing concern at the funding 
issues that were raised during the debate, together 
with the Committee’s support for the CCG’s ‘Healthy 
New Towns’ bid.

A letter has been written and sent on behalf of the 
Committee.

Adrian Gowan

2 At the meeting held on 15 December 2015 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from a Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) representative, 
asked that they be invited to return in June 2016 to 
provide a further update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

3 At the meeting held on 15 December 2015 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from the Director of Public Health, asked that he be 
invited to return in December 2016 to provide a further 
update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

4 At the meeting held on 15 December 2015 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having considered the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects Annual Report 2014/15, 
asked that consideration of the Annual Report for 
2015/16 be scheduled for December 2016.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

5 At the meeting held on 15 December 2015 the Policy 
Overview Committee asked that the Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan 2016 – 2018 be amended as 
agreed and recommended to Cabinet for adoption.

The amended Action Plan was considered and 
adopted by Cabinet on 21 January 2016 with no 
further changes required.

Alan Stoneham

6 At the meeting held on 15 December 2015 the 
Policy Overview Committee, having noted the 
concerns that had been raised by the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel on 30 November 2015 in relation to 
the costs associated with the provision of temporary 
accommodation asked that the Head of Housing be 
invited to their June 2016 meeting in order that the 
associated spending strategy may be explored.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Peter Dosad

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST

1. Summary

1.1  To receive an update on the work of the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee thanks Mrs Acott for attending and notes the update that 
Mrs Acott has provided on the services being delivered by Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust and the initiatives that have been introduced and/or 
are being planned in the future.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 2 September 2014 the Committee received an update 
from Susan Acott, the Chief Executive of the Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust, on the work of the Trust and its future direction. At the 
conclusion of the item the Chairman invited Mrs Acott to return in a 
year’s time to provide the Committee with a further update.

3.2. Unfortunately Mrs Acott had been unable to attend the meeting on 1 
September 2015 but had provided a written update for Members’ 
consideration. At that meeting Members had expressed a wish for her 
to attend a future meeting of the Committee and agreed that she be 
invited to their March 2016 meeting.

3.3. Mrs Acott will therefore be attending this meeting in order to update 
Members on the services that the Trust provides, and highlight any 
new initiatives that have been introduced in the past year, or are being 
planned for the future.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

7. Appendices
          
          None.
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

HEALTHWATCH KENT

1. Summary

1.1  To receive a report on the services provided by Healthwatch Kent.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee thanks Mr Inett for attending and notes the information 
that Mr Inett has provided on the services being delivered by Healthwatch 
Kent.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 15 June 2015, Members asked that a representative 
from Healthwatch Kent be invited to its March 2016 meeting to report 
on the services that they provide, and to also describe how their 
services relate to those being offered by other Health Service 
providers.

3.2. Mr Steve Inett, the Chief Executive of Healthwatch Kent, has therefore 
agreed to attend this meeting in order to provide the information 
requested by Members.

3.3. On their website (http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/) Healthwatch Kent 
describe themselves as an independent organisation set up to 
champion the views of patients and social care users across Kent. 
They work to help local people get the best out of their local health and 
social care services by working to improve them today, or helping to 
shape them for tomorrow.

3.4. Healthwatch Kent state that their mission is to raise the public's voice 
to improve the quality of local health and social care services in Kent. 
They listen to people’s experiences of health and social care services 
and take their voices to the people who commission health and social 
care services in Kent.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

http://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/


POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices
          
          None.
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

EDUCATION PROVISION IN DARTFORD

1. Summary

1.1  To receive a briefing on the future plans for education provision in Dartford.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee thanks Mr Watts for attending and notes the information 
that Mr Watts has provided in relation to education provision in Dartford.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At the meeting held on 15 June 2015 the Policy Overview Committee 
received an update on the progress being made with the Ebbsfleet 
Garden City development (minute 9). During discussion Members had 
referred to the impact that the new development would have on 
schools and had been advised by the Head of Regeneration that Kent 
County Council (KCC) together with officers from Dartford were looking 
at schooling requirements, but were considering the Borough as a 
whole rather than focusing on the Ebbsfleet Garden City area alone, 
since some of the issues were relevant beyond Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation’s boundary.

3.2. Members therefore asked that KCC’s Area Education Officer for North 
Kent, Ian Watts, be invited to a future meeting of the Committee to 
advise on future Primary and Secondary school place provision in the 
Borough.

3.3. It had initially been hoped that a visit could be arranged for the 
Committee’s September 2015 meeting but as work on the next version 
of the school place Kent Commissioning Plan 2016-20 was still being 
progressed, it was suggested that Mr Watts’s visit be delayed until 
March 2016 in order that Members may take the latest proposals and 
plans into account when considering this item.

3.4. Mr Watts will therefore be attending this meeting in order to provide the 
requested briefing and respond to Members’ questions.

3.5. Those parts of the ‘Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in 
Kent for 2016-2020’ that are applicable to Dartford are attached at 
Appendix A.

3.6. The current version of the ‘Commissioning Plan for Education Provision 
in Kent for 2016-2020’ may be accessed here:

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=61244

3.7. This version was presented to the KCC Education and Young People’s 
Services Cabinet Committee on 15 December 2015, where Members 
were recommended to consider and endorse or make 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

recommendations on the Plan prior to the final version being 
considered and approved by Cabinet at a future meeting.  The final 
version of the document will therefore be available after 17 March 
2016.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices
          

Appendix A – Extracts from the ‘Commissioning Plan for Education 
Provision in Kent for 2016-2020’ that are applicable to 
Dartford.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

10.8 DARTFORD

Overview

 Demand for school places in Dartford is mainly caused by inward migration 
connected to significant house-building and the birth rate which is higher than 
both the Kent and National.  

 Dartford’s birth rate dropped significantly in 2013, although it has shown a slight 
increase in 2014.  However, the impact of a significant increase in birth rates in 
previous years will continue to provide pressure for places.

 Despite expansions at seven Primary schools in recent years, demand is 
continuing to increase beyond available capacity.

 The Dartford Borough Core Strategy records significant housing development 
(up to 17,300 new homes), focusing on seven key sites, all of which will require 
new education provision.  These are: Eastern Quarry, Stone, Ebbsfleet Green, 
Ebbsfleet, Swanscombe Peninsula, Dartford Northern Gateway and Dartford 
Bridge.  Much of this development will be under the auspices of the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation.



APPENDIX A

Borough Analysis – Primary
The charts below set out the birth rates and the table sets out the school population 
figures and forecasts:



APPENDIX A

School-based surplus/deficit capacity summaries: Year R: 

Planning Group

2014/15 
capacity

2014-15 
(A

)

2015-16 
(F)

2016-17 
(F)

2017-18 
(F)

2018-19 
(F)

2019-20 
(F)

2019-20 
capacity

Dartford North 180 3 9 -5 -4 -5 -2 180
Dartford East 360 1 -28 -37 -22 -35 -33 360
Dartford West 350 -3 11 -14 0 -5 -5 350
Joyden's Wood and Wilmington 180 3 -3 5 -4 5 3 180
Swanscombe and Greenhithe 210 33 -13 24 -4 -4 -4 210
Dartford Rural South 180 15 22 1 0 -2 2 180
Dartford 1,460 52 -2 -25 -34 -45 -40 1,460

All Year Groups:  

Planning Group

2014-15 
capacity

2014-15 (A
)

2015-16 (F)

2016-17 (F)

2017-18 (F)

2018-19 (F)

2019-20 (F)

2019-20 
capacity

Dartford North 1,020 15 2 -18 -33 -42 -44 1,245
Dartford East 2,250 13 -36 -85 -131 -172 -210 2,520
Dartford West 2,390 -36 -42 -72 -104 -116 -125 2,450
Joyden's Wood and Wilmington 1,086 -14 -17 -15 -54 -71 -95 1,180
Swanscombe and Greenhithe 1,260 70 35 66 53 43 35 1,500
Dartford Rural South 1,185 99 70 50 21 -4 -27 1,260
Dartford 9,191 147 11 -74 -249 -362 -466 10,155

There are currently 26 Primary schools distributed across six planning groups in 
Dartford.  1,460 Reception Year places are available in 2014-15 and currently that 
remains the capacity for 2015-16.  However, the significant uplift in migration into the 
Borough, and in particular Dartford Town, during the past two years is expected to 
continue.  Consequently, the forecast numbers are higher than previously envisaged, 
and will require more school places to be created in the short and medium term.

The pressures in Dartford are most acute in Reception Year as larger cohorts enter 
the school system.  The Borough’s birth rate continues to be above the Kent and 
National levels, although in 2013 did see a drop.  However, high levels of inward 
migration are expanding the cohort sizes annually.  

As can be seen from the tables there is currently a small amount of surplus capacity 
primarily in the rural areas of the Borough, while the overall forecast demand for 2015-
16 exceeds capacity.  For September 2015 all pupils requiring a place in a Reception 
class were allocated one.  However, urgent work is required early in 2015-16 to build 
in additional capacity through schools in planning groups displaying the highest 
pressures agreeing to admit over PAN and/or open temporary classes.

2016-17 appears to present the greatest pressure for Reception places, with a slight 
reduction in the cohort size forecast for the following four years.  For the year 2016-17 
a minimum of 2FE is required to meet demand but an additional 4FE would ensure a 
5% surplus is available to aid parental choice and to mitigate the effects of inward 



APPENDIX A

migration.  Schools are reporting higher numbers of inward migration. Total Primary 
rolls are forecast to increase significantly from 9,044 pupils in 2014-15 to 10,621 in 
2019-20.

House-building in the area is set to continue, primarily in the Ebbsfleet Valley 
development area where up to 15,000 homes could be provided over the next 10-15 
years.  Pressures are also being realised elsewhere in the Borough through new 
developments such as Dartford Northern Gateway, St James’ Lane Pit and 
considerable numbers of small to medium sized developments.  The provision of new 
schools is being factored into the planning for the Borough, with up to seven Primary 
Schools and sites being requested or secured via developer contributions, one of 
which would form part of a community campus including a new Secondary school.  
The first of the new Primary Schools is set to open in September 2017.  New 
additional Primary provision as a result of new development are included in the tables, 
but additional demand, predicated by new development, is not included in the 
forecasts.   

Borough Analysis – Secondary
The table below sets out the school population figures and forecasts:

2014/15 
PAN / 

Capacity
2014-15 

(A
)

2015-16 
(F)

2016-17 
(F)

2017-18 
(F)

2018-19 
(F)

2019-20 
(F)

2020-21 
(F)

2021-22 
(F)

2021-22 
PAN / 

Capacity
Year 7 1,475 53 62 -28 -68 -117 -199 -242 -289 1,525
Years 7-11 7,385 485 535 455 363 170 -39 -344 -604 7,925

The number of Year 7 school places in 2014-15 was 1,475, although this has risen to 
1,555 in 2015-16 with a permanent enlargement to Dartford Grammar School.  We 
have also made temporary expansions to Wilmington Grammar Girls and Wilmington 
Academy, and will consider making these expansions permanent.  The Year 7 cohort 
rises steadily year on year and it is anticipated that by 2023-24 an additional 16FE will 
be required to meet demand whilst providing the additional 5% surplus for parental 
preference. 

The increase in capacity at Grammar schools has a lower effect on overall Dartford 
capacity because of the admission criteria, which will see students being admitted 
from Out of County.  The increased demand has been exacerbated by the closure of 
Oasis Academy Hextable, as although this school does not sit within the Dartford 
Borough, it was used by significant numbers of Dartford pupils.

In order to provide sufficient places we will expand existing provision, and also 
investigate the possibility of new provision either through the utilisation of the Hextable 
site or on new sites identified in and around Dartford Town.

The forecast demand excludes additional pressures resulting from significant housing 
developments in the area, therefore, a new 8FE school will be provided in the 
Ebbsfleet Garden City.  The exact timing of this is dependent on the build out rates for 
the development, but it was originally envisaged that at least the first 4FE would be 
brought on line in 2018.   



APPENDIX A

Dartford Primary School Commissioning Position 

 

Dartford Secondary School Commissioning Position 
 

by 2016-17 by 2017-18 by 2018-19 2019–20 to 
2021-22)

1 FE – Wilmington 
Grammar Girls
2FE – Wilmington Academy
1FE – Ebbsfleet Academy

1FE in Dartford 2 FE in Dartford
4FE (of 8FE) in Alkerden 

4FE in  Alkerden
9FE in Dartford

Planning Group by 2016-17 by 2017-18 by 2018-19 2019–20 to 
2021-22)

Dartford North 1FE in Dartford 
North

1FE in Dartford 
Northern 
Gateway 

1FE in Dartford 
Northern 
Gateway 

Dartford West 0.6FE in Dartford 
West

Dartford East 2FE in Dartford 
East

Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 

1FE in 
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe

1FE (of 2FE) in 
Castle Hill 
development 

1FE in Ebbsfleet 
Green 
2FE in St James 
Pit 

1FE – Station 
Quarter North
1FE – Castle 
Hill
1FE – Ebbsfleet 
Green
2FE – Alkerden
2FE – Western 
Cross





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

HEALTHY LIVING CENTRE DARTFORD

1. Summary

1.1  To receive a briefing on the work that is carried out at the Healthy Living Centre 
Dartford.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information provided be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 16 December 2014 the Policy Overview Committee 
had received an update on the services that are delivered by the 
Healthy Living Centre Dartford (minute 32). During subsequent 
discussion Members had congratulated the Centre on the wide range 
of benefits that were being provided to the community and asked that 
representatives from the Centre be invited back in a year’s time to 
provide a further update.

3.2. A representative has therefore been invited to this meeting to provide 
the requested update.

3.3. A copy of the Healthy Living Centre’s Trustees’ Report for 2015 is 
attached at Appendix A

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a Corporate Plan theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices
          

Appendix A – Healthy Living Centre Dartford Trustees’ Report 2015



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A









































POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

UNIVERSAL CREDIT UPDATE

1. Summary

1.1 To provide Members with a brief update on Universal Credit.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information contained in the report be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

Latest Universal Credit caseload statistics

3.1. The Committee previously received an update in December advising 
that, as at 8th October 2015, there were 141,000 people in receipt of 
Universal Credit nationally. Of these, 33% were in employment, 67% 
were not in employment.

3.2. The latest available data shows that, as at 10th December 2015, the 
number in receipt of Universal Credit was 175,505 - an increase of 
34,505. The proportion of those in employment/not in employment was 
the same as before.

Latest position for Dartford Borough Council 

3.3. As part of the Universal Credit Live Service, the Council entered into a 
Delivery Partnership Agreement with the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) on 21st January 2016.

3.4. As a result of this agreement, the Council is now working in partnership 
with the DWP to deliver services required by single, unemployed 
claimants (who do not have a housing costs liability) as part of the 
Universal Credit application process. These include:

 Supporting claimants to make their claim on-line;

 Receiving budgeting support to prepare and support claimants for 
the financial changes Universal Credit brings. Specifically, these 
include the single household payment, the Universal Credit monthly 
payment and housing costs paid directly to the claimant.

3.5. The agreement went live without any problems on 25th January 2016. It 
is in place for an interim period and currently it is due to expire on 31st 
March 2017.

3.6. At the time of writing this report, the Council has only received one 
referral from the Jobcentre to provide personal budgeting support for a 
Universal Credit claimant. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Universal Credit
Under the Delivery Partnership Agreement, the 
DWP will reimburse the Council with reasonable 
costs associated to the delivery of relevant 
services and activities.

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications Universal Credit
None. All activities associated to the DPA will be 
delivered and absorbed within existing resources.

Administrative Implications Universal Credit
Negligible at present.

Risk Assessment Universal Credit
The ‘controlled rollout’ of UC and the lack of a 
migration schedule for existing HB cases to UC 
indicates that this project is currently a low risk to 
the Council.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None Nick Scott
Head of Revenues & 
Benefits
(01732) 227397

Revenues 
and 
Benefits 

Internal 
Services

N/A



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

CORPORATE PLAN – PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 3 of 2015-16.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring 
Report attached at Appendix A.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Dartford Borough Council’s Corporate Plan 2014–17 includes a set of 
performance indicators relating to the Council’s own service 
performance and the wider performance of the Borough.

3.2. This latest Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached at 
Appendix A, includes 2014-15 baseline data and data for the first three 
quarters of 2015-16.

3.3. The indicators either present data only or they have targets assigned to 
them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators may report 
annually, and these have been identified in the report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2014-2017 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2014-17

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q3 2015-16

Performance Indicator Status
 Data Only

 OK

 Warning

 Alert

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Community Infrastructure Levy                                                                                                                                                                                                            Source: DBC Planning/PPI29
2014-15 2015-16

  Result       £55,575                     Q1 Result   £73,524
                     Q2 Result   £0
                     Q3 Result   £22,481

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development since April 
2014. Payment of CIL is not required until the liable development commences and therefore it is not 
unusual for it to take some time before the level of CIL revenue increases. During quarter 3 of 2015-
16, two sites have commenced construction and payment has been received. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in their area, will be passed to town/parish councils and 
local neighbourhoods and a further proportion of the total CIL revenue will be used for 
administrative costs.

Projected planning fee income for the year                                                                                                                    Source: DBC Planning/PPI31
2014-15 2015-16

                Projection  £546,840
                Actual        £553,058

                Q1 Projection 111,711 
                Q1 Actual       202,267
               Q2 Projection £223,422
                Q2 Actual       £402,178
                Q3 Projection £335,133
                Q3 Actual       £515,277

The fee income for August was particularly high, at just over £130,000, whilst income has been 
subsequently averaging at £40,000 per month.  This meant that by the end of October the projected 
total fee income of £446,840 for the current financial year had already been exceeded. Subsequent 
monthly income is now likely to drop slightly as the fees for planning applications within the area of 
the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation will no longer be payable to Dartford Borough Council.    

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall business birth/death rate                                                                                                                         Source: ONS Business Demography/BI1

2012 and 2013 2014
        2012  Births              480
                  Deaths            385                 
         2013  Births              605
                   Deaths            350

                        Births               630
                        Deaths             385

There continues to be more business birth rates than business death rates in the Borough. 
Business birth rates in 2014 are up by 4.13% from 2013. Business death rates in 2014 are also up 
by 10% from 2013. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business birth rate in 2014 was 7,680 compared 
to 7,745 in 2013. The overall business death rate in Kent in 2014 was 5,680 compared to 5,850 in 
2013. (Annual Indicator  - next data due  Nov 2016)  



2

District wide unemployment rate                                                                                                                              Source: NOMIS Claimant Count/BI2
Jan 2014 Dec 2015

                 Result             2.1%                      Result               1.0%
There were 670 unemployed people in the Borough in December 2015, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 1.0%. Unemployment in the Borough decreased by 4.3% (30 unemployment 
benefit claimants) since November 2015 and fell by 15.9% since the same time last year (127 fewer 
unemployment benefit claimants). In Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in December 
2015 was 1.4%.

Town centre average footfall                                                                                                                             Source: DBC Town Centre Management/BI3
2014-15 2015-16

                  Result      117,365                      Q1 Result     118,759
                     Q2 Result     118,056
                     Q3 Result     100,366

The quarter 3 average footfall data for 2015-16 is close to last year’s quarter 3 figure but down on 
quarter 1 and quarter 2 results. Saturday 19 December was one of the busiest days with 24,051 
visitors. Market days were generally the busiest days in the town centre.

Number of new homes built                                                                                                                                                 Source: DBC Planning/BI4
2013-14 2014-15

                   Result             602                      Result                 565
Planning consents are in place for a large number of new homes. However, the economic recession 
slowed progress on the major sites. The scale and complexity of the largest sites means it can take
several years of planning and site preparation before the first homes are delivered.  This has meant 
that housing delivery is not at the level that had been projected. 

2014-15 saw the start on a couple of the largest sites in the Borough, Eastern Quarry and Northern 
Gateway, as well as site preparation at St Clements Valley.  Delivery is typically slow in the initial 
stages but a significant uplift in completions is expected in the next year or so, given the amount of 
housing currently under construction.

Both a regeneration housing target, taking into account the availability of large sites suitable for 
housing, as well as a local housing need requirement figure have been set. The annual target for 
each of these is shown below, together with delivery rates since 2006-07. Improvement is needed 
to meet these targets in future needs and to catch up with under delivery from the recession period. 
However, as noted, delivery of housing now appears to have geared up and an upward trend is 
anticipated in future years. 

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
Core Strategy ‘up to’ figure phasing 460 460 460 460 460 1,020 1,020 1,020
‘Housing need’ average annual requirement 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585
Actual delivery 659 603 610 151 362 322 422 602
(Annual Indicator – next data due 2016) 



3

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Usage of Borough Council sports facilities                                                                                                  Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS1

                    No data available         Park Run         
       Q3 Result average 130 users
       Princes Park Mini Pitches
       Q3 Result                67 users

Figures on the new Fairfield Leisure Centre will be reported once this facility is open in February. In 
terms of other sports facilities, the 5k Dartford Park Run takes place every Saturday and continues 
to attract an average of 130 runners each week. The two state-of-the art, floodlight 3G mini soccer 
pitches in Princes Park had 62 users/teams using them in quarter 1 of 2015-16, 68 in quarter 2 and 
67 in quarter 3. 

Number of local groups supported through Community Grant and other grant schemes                      Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS2
2014-15 2015-16

                   Result               44                      No. to date          21
In 2015, the Salute to Youth scheme has awarded funding to 4 local groups and the Community 
Fund has awarded grants to 17 local groups. The Community Grant Scheme was launched in 
January 2016. Applications for this round of grants close on 29 February.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard Theatre (% of total seats available which are used)                   Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS3
2014-15 2015-16

          Result        58.33%                       Q1 Result     55.67%
                      Q2 Result     66.67%
                      Q3 Result         71%

The average percentage attendance at the Orchard Theatre for quarter 3 of 2015-16 was 71%. This 
is higher than the same quarter last year which had an average attendance of 64.33%. Attendance 
is generally higher during the pantomime season which increases the average attendance rate (e.g. 
there was a 75% attendance rate in Dec 2014, an 83% attendance rate in Jan 2015 and a 75% 
attendance rate in January 2016). 

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall life expectancy gap in the Borough                                                                                               Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles/BI5

2010-12 2011-13
                   Male               7.7

                    Female           6.2
                     Male                   7.6
                    Female               8.3

In 2010-12, life expectancy was 6.2 years lower for women and 7.7 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of the Borough than in the least deprived areas. By 2011-13, the life expectancy 
gap for women worsened to 8.3 years whereas for men there was no significant change at 7.6. In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the life expectancy gap for women in 2011-13 was 5.1 years and for men 
it was 7.1 years. (Annual Indicator – next data due 2016) 

Percentage of obese children in year six                                                                                                  Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI6
2012-13 2013-14

      Result         22.8%   Result             23.2% In 2012-13, 22.8% of children in year six (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. 
Latest available figures for 2013-14, show that this has increased to 23.2% of children in year six 
being classified as obese. This is worse than the average for Kent (KCC area) (18.5%) and worse 
than the average for England (19.1%). (Annual Indicator  - next data release due Jun 16) 

Percentage of adults achieving at least 150 minutes of physical exercise per week                                      Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI7
2012 and 2013 2014

              2012 Result     52.9%
              2013 Result     56.6%

                      Result          55.8%
In 2012, 52.9% of adults were physically active in the Borough and in 2013 this was 56.6%, Latest 
available figures for 2014 show that 55.8% of adults were physically active in the Borough. This is 
just below the average for Kent (56.6%) and the average for England (57%). (Annual Indicator – next 
data due 2016) 



4

SAFER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Total number of arrests instigated by CCTV                                                                                      Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI14
2014-15 2015-16

    Result                45                     Q1 Result            24
                    Q2 Result            19
                    Q3 Result            17

The quarter 3 figure for 2015-16 of 17 arrests is higher than the same quarter last year where there 
were 9 arrests. The CCTV team has had difficulties recruiting a new operator which has placed extra 
demands on the other three operators. Therefore, an improvement on this, in spite of staffing issues 
and demands this places on operators, is encouraging.

Total number of arrests supported by CCTV                                                                                     Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI15
2014-15 2015-16
 Result              148                     Q1 Result            13

                    Q2 Result            11
                    Q3 Result            13

The quarter 3 figure for 2015-16 of 13 arrests remains consistent with the quarter 1 and 2 figures, 
although lower than the same quarter last year where there were 46 arrests. Due to stretched police 
resources, we are starting to see a change in procedure whereby if a shoplifter has been detained 
and the goods recovered, the police advise that the person’s details should be taken and verified 
prior to them being released and dealt with at a later point in time, rather than police committing 
officers to deal with the matter at the time. This approach impacts CCTV arrest statistics although 
CCTV is likely to still be providing support via DTAC.

Percentage of high risk (categories A & B) food hygiene inspections due and completed                          Source: DBC Environmental Health/EHPI5 
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target         100%
                  Result         100%

                    Target            100%
                    Q1 Result      37.5%
                    Q2 Result      100%
                    Q3 Result        96%

23 out of 24 due inspections were completed in quarter 3 of 2015-16. One business could not be 
accessed because it was closed in December. Performance in previous years has been 
consistently met with 100% of inspections due and completed.

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Total number of crimes committed in the Borough                                                                                      Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI8

Oct 2013 – Sep 2014 2015-16
Result           8,318                      Q1 Result      1,910

                     Q2 Result      2,010
                     Q3 Result      2,130

There were 2,130 crimes committed in the Borough in quarter 3 of 2015-16. This compares with 
2,428 crimes committed in the same quarter last year. The lower figure for quarter 3 of 2015-16 ties 
in with a general reduction in the level of recorded crime year-on-year.

Number of criminal damage offences in the Borough                                                                                  Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI9
Oct 2013 – Sep 2014 2015-16

   Result         1, 197                      Q1 Result         303
                     Q2 Result         343
                     Q3 Result         303

The quarter 3 figure for 2015-16 of 303 criminal damage offences remains consistent with the 
quarter 1 and 2 figures and is 13.91% higher than the same quarter last year where there were 266 
criminal damage offences. 

Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents in the Borough                                                        Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI10
2014-15 2015-16

                  Result          2,735                     Q1 Result          636
                    Q2 Result          842
                    Q3 Result          668

The quarter 3 figure for 2015-16 of 668 anti-social behaviour incidents is higher than the figure 
reported the same quarter last year of 549 incidents. It is difficult to draw any meaningful conclusions 
as to the reasons for the quarter 3 figure being higher than the 2014-15 quarter 3 figure. The majority 
of areas which saw a higher figure in October or November then saw a reduction in December, 
suggesting that any increases are being dealt through targeted work or reducing naturally. 



5

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of household waste recycled or composted                                                                                        Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI3
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target           30%
                  Result       27.46%

                     Target             30%
                     Q1 Result   25.59%
                     Q2 Result   25.28%
                     Q3 Result   25.43%

Overall performance is down because of reduced levels of recycling and increased quantities of 
general waste. The 2015-16 outturn is likely to be no greater than 26%. Performance for 2016-17 
should be better if garden waste promotions go well.

Number of households participating in the green bin service                                                                               Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI4
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target          4,500
                  Result          5,366

            Target (by year end)  6,000
                    Q1 Result       5,524
                    Q2 Result       5,709
                    Q3 Result       5,760

There were 4,725 households participating in the green bin service by year end in 2013-14 and 
5,366 participating by year end in 2014-15. The aim is to reach 6,000 customers this year and 
ultimately 8,000.

Number of fly tipping incidents                                                                                                                                 Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI7
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target             120 
                  Result             104

            Target (per quarter)         30  
                     Q1 Result           27
                     Q2 Result           22
                     Q3 Result           14

Fly tipping is very random and therefore difficult to predict. There has been an increase in the 
number of large lorry loads tipped but much of this has been on the highway and clearance has 
therefore been the responsibility KCC. More smaller items such as settees and mattresses are also 
being dumped.

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Number of graffiti incidents                                                                                                                                       Source:  DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI8

2014-15 2015-16
                  Target             120 
                  Result               35

             Target (per quarter)        30 
                     Q1 Result           12
                     Q2 Result           15
                     Q3 Result            4

There has been a significant decline in the incidents of graffiti in the Borough overall and the 
number of reported incidents remains low. Against an annual target of 120, there were just 35 
incidents in 2014-15, but in the first three quarters of 2015-16 there were 31 incidents.  

Number of households taking part in energy efficiency initiatives in the Borough                                          Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI43
2014-15 2015-16

                  Result             841                      Q1  Result         131
                     Q2 Result          85
                     Q3 Result          51

The data included in this performance indicator is gathered from a number of different sources 
relating to different projects and programmes and is proving difficult to collect. The end of year 
position is expected to be below the 2014-15 out turn.



6

HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of emergency repairs completed on time                                                                                            Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI5
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target         100%
                  Result         100%

                    Target            100%
                    Q1 Result      100%
                    Q2 Result    99.78%
                    Q3 Result    99.85% 

Performance is currently on target for the percentage of emergency repairs completed on time for 
2015-16. In the previous two years, 99.56% of emergency repairs were completed on time in 2013-
14 and 100% were completed on time in 2014-15. 

Percentage of urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                                    Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI6        
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target           98%
                  Result       95.49%

                    Target              98%
                    Q1 Result    97.87%
                    Q2 Result    96.02%
                    Q3 Result    93.59%    

Performance was just below target for the percentage of urgent repairs completed on time for 
quarter 3 of 2015-16. This is due to dramatically increased repairs requests due to the wet and 
windy weather experienced towards the end of 2015. In the previous two years, 94.55% of urgent 
repairs were completed on time in 2013-14, and 95.49% were completed on time in 2014-15.  

Percentage on non-urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                           Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI7
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target           98%
                  Result       90.37%

                    Target              98%
                    Q1 Result    93.28%
                    Q2 Result    92.15%
                    Q3 Result    93.16%    

Performance in this area is currently below target but improving monthly due to ongoing 
management action. End of year out turn is expected to be on, or close to target. In the previous 
two years, 88.84% of non-urgent repairs were completed on time in 2013-14 and 90.37% were 
completed on time in 2014-15.

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing                                                                                              Source:  DBC Housing Services/HPI8                                                                            
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target               21
                   Result         20.60

                     Target                21
                     Q1 Result      20.03
                     Q2 Result      18.72
                     Q3 Result      18.67

The average time (in days) taken to re-let local authority housing is currently above target. In the 
previous two years, the average time taken to re-let local authority housing was 19.29 days in 2013-
14 and 20.6 days in 2014-15.

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Number of new homes completed                                                                                                                                      Source: DBC Planning/BI11

2013-14 2014-15
                  Result           602                      Result                565

     

Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of affordable homes completed                                                                                                                   Source: DBC Housing Services/BI12
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target               60
                  Result             151

               Target (by year end)   150
                    Q1 Result              0
                    Q2 Result            22
                    Q3 Result            32
           Running total for year  54      

There were no affordable homes completions in quarter 1 of 2015-16 but 22 were delivered in 
quarter 2 and 32 in quarter 3. Looking ahead most sites planned to start are now in progress and it 
is hoped that the target will be achieved by the end of 2015-16 but the Council has no direct control 
over the delivery of the new units. In the previous two years, 109 affordable homes were completed 
in 2013-14 and 151 were completed in 2014-15.



7

Number of private sector dwellings returned to occupation                                                                                  Source: DBC Housing Services/BI13
2014-15 2015-16

                  Target             100
                  Result               96

                 Target (by year end)115        
                     Q1  Result          28
                     Q2 Result           4
                     Q3 Result           89

There was a significant improvement in performance in quarter 3 of 2015-16. The reason for the 
slow start in the number of private sector dwellings returned to occupation in the first two quarters is 
because this is the lead up period to the New Homes Bonus deadline date and almost all of the 
Empty Property Officers time is spent during this period checking whether properties are occupied, 
which is a time consuming but essential part of the process. There will be a significant improvement 
in quarters 3 and 4 because the owners of the properties confirmed as being empty will be 
contacted and given advice and guidance on the options available to assist them in bringing their 
premises back into use. 

COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of Council Tax collected                                                                                                                      Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS3
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target        96.90%
                   Result        96.80%

                   July Target  38.8%
                   Jul Result    39.1%
                   Sep Target  57.2%
                   Sep Result  57.4%
                   Dec Target  84.7%
                   Dec Result  85.0%

There is progressive improvement in collection rate being made every quarter with an additional 
£2.1 million having been collected compared to quarter 3 in 2014-15.

Percentage of Non Domestic Rates collected                                                                                                       Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS4
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target             98%
                   Result          98.5%

                   July Target  40.2%
                   Jul Result    39.8%
                   Sep Target  58.1%
                   Sep Result  57.2%
                   Dec Target  84.7%
                   Dec Result  81.8%

Despite a significant reduction, the comparison for the end of quarter 3 compared to the same 
period in 2014-15 has been affected by £1.5million cash/cheque payments, which were made on 
31st December, not being posted to accounts until 4th January (the earliest date these transactions 
could be posted due to the New Year bank holiday). Had this amount been posted in quarter 3, the 
estimated collection rate would be 83.5% and therefore, collection would be down by 1.2%. The 
final collection rate for quarter 4 will reflect the £1.5million posted on 4th January and, as a result of 
an increase in income anticipated for both February and March due to a number of businesses 
choosing to pay over 12 months instead of 10, a further improvement in the in-year collection rate is 
expected.

Average time (working days) to process a new Housing Benefit Claim                                                          Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/RBPI1
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target                27
                   Result           26.33

                   Target             25
                   Q1 Result       30.7
                   Q2 Result       24.3 
                   Q3 Result       23.0
                   Year to date   26.0

Progressive improvement is being made and we are now only one day above target. We are 
confident that the target will be achieved/exceeded and that, as a consequence of an action plan to 
help deliver efficiencies and improvement in processing times, we should also be in a strong 
position to start the new financial year.



8

Average number of DBC working days lost because of short term sickness per employee                             Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI5 
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target                4.5                                       
                   Result              2.98                     

                   Target             5.0                         
                   Q1 Result       1.09 
                   Q2 Result       1.00
                   Q3 Result       1.40

Sickness absence remains below Local Government average of 8.4 days per FTE (source: Local 
Government Workforce Survey 2014 – 14).  Higher levels of short term sickness absence reported 
in quarter 3 of 2015-16 was due to seasonal bugs.

Average number of DBC working days lost because of long term sickness per employee                              Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI6
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target                  2
                   Result             4.14

                    Target              4.0  
                    Q1 Result        0.77
                    Q2 Result        1.18
                    Q3 Result        0.44

Long term sickness absence reduced in quarter 3 of 2015-16 due to employees leaving 
employment or returning to work.

Percentage of supplier payments made within 30 days of receipt of invoice                                                                 Source: DBC Finance/FPI8                                                                              
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target        99.50%
                   Result        99.21%

                   Target       99.50%
                   Q1 Result  99.32%
                   Q2 Result  98.96%
                   Q3 Result  98.94%

The Council continues to support small and medium business by paying in good time. The results 
displayed show a cumulative result which shows a small reduction. However the quarter 3 individual 
figure was 98.88% an improvement on the quarter 2 result of 98.74%. All late invoices in quarter 3 
had been subject to early reminders from the payments team. A small number of late invoices can 
make a difference to the result, the figures would have improved more if a group 7 invoices from the 
same supplier were approved and paid within the target period.

Rent collected as a proportion of rent due                                                                                                               Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI1
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target             98%
                   Result        97.57%

                    Q1 Target      90%         
                    Q1 Result 91.99%
                    Q2 Target      95%
                    Q2 Result 95.80%
                    Q3 Target      97%
                    Q3 Result 97.34%

Performance is currently above target for rent collected as a proportion of rent due for 2015-16. In 
the previous two years, 97.58% of rent was collected in 2013-14 and 97.57% of rent was collected 
in 2014-15.

Number of visits to DBC website                                                                                                                                                 Source: ICT/ITPI24
2014-15 2015-16

                  Result        664,701                    Q1  Result 225,799
                   Q2 Result 189,723
                   Q3 Result 176,108

The quarter 3 figure for 2015-16 is slightly lower than quarter 2 as normal for the season due to 
fewer special events but continues to show a growth of almost 20% per annum.

Percentage of customer service telephone calls answered within 20 seconds                                                      Source: Customer Services/CSP1                                                                                                                   
2014-15 2015-16

                   Target        71.25%
                   Result        65.36%

                   Target            65%
                   Q1 Result  58.53% 
                   Q2 Result  76.50%
                   Q3 Result  81.17%

There has been further improvement through quarter 3 of 2015-16 with over 81% of calls being 
answered within 20 seconds. This will, in part, be due to the fall in call volume from 29,208 to 
26,044. This fall was across all services with the exception of Waste & Parks and Parking. The 
improved level of service could also be due to the three Customer Service Apprentices and B grade 
Customer Services Advisors are now covering certain admin tasks, including incoming and 
outgoing postal processes and revenue and benefit scanning, allowing more experienced/C grade 
Customer Services Advisors to handle the majority of incoming telephone calls.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
8 MARCH 2016

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL & LEAD MEMBER 
PARTICIPATION

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the revised Policy Overview Committee Protocol which details the 
process for Lead Member participation in the Committee’s proceedings.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the report and adopt the revised Policy Overview 
Committee Protocol at Appendix A to the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Leader allocates specific roles and responsibilities to Cabinet members. 
These roles and responsibilities are referred to as 'portfolios' (with no decision 
making powers). The Cabinet is supported by Cabinet Delivery Teams (sitting 
outside Cabinet). 

3.2 Lead Members are appointed to Cabinet Delivery Teams, assigned specific 
areas of responsibility by and report to the Leader.  The appointments and 
areas of responsibility are noted at the Annual Meeting [27.05.15: Min.No.14].

3.3 The Policy Overview Committee Protocol (Appendix A to the report) has been 
developed over the years to manage the overview/executive relationship.  The 
Protocol covers a wide range of common expectations, such as timescales 
and the expectations of certain behaviours when Officers and Members are 
questioned at Committee.

3.4 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) places an 
obligation on Cabinet members [and Council Officers] to attend overview and 
scrutiny committee meetings, where required to do so.  The word ‘require’ is 
not defined in the Act, but it can be assumed that it does not confer a choice 
as to whether or not to attend.  

3.5 The attendance and participation of Cabinet members in the overview process 
is governed by the Policy Overview Committee Protocol which provides that 
the nomination of specific/named Cabinet members as participants and any 
necessary substitutions, is within the discretion of the Cabinet Chairman (for 
Council Officers, within the discretion of the Managing Director).  

3.6 The Head of Legal Services was asked to advise on the process applying to 
the attendance of Lead Members specifically at Scrutiny Committee [2 
February 2016 Min. No.30].  The opportunity is taken to clarify the role of Lead 
Members in discharging the Council’s overview functions.  



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

3.7 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. 

Although the functions of scrutiny and overview differ, the Committees’ 
Protocols in the main, apply the same processes. There is however one 
significant difference.  Whereas Scrutiny Committee members cannot be 
involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved, 
Policy Overview Committee members may (subject to the rules on conflicts of 
interest), participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review 
work, including the consideration of policy themes and matters of local 
concern, even if they have been directly involved in policy development. 

3.8 The Policy Overview Committee Protocol at Appendix A to the report has 
been revised to reflect the Head of Legal Services’s advice (amendments are 
highlighted for ease of reference):

Subject to the rules on conflicts of interest:

(a) any Lead Member may attend meetings of the Committee and with the 
consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio;

(b) Lead Members can be invited to make representations, answer questions or 
give evidence on their respective portfolios, but cannot be compelled to do 
so;

(c) the attendance of any specific/named Lead Member (and any substitution) 
is within the gift of the Cabinet Chairman;

(d) Committee members and Lead Members who have been directly involved in 
policy development, may participate in the Committee’s policy development 
and/or review work.  

3.9 The Committee is recommended to adopt the revised Policy Overview 
Committee Protocol at Appendix A to the report. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Overview is a statutory requirement and helps to ensure that local public services 
are delivered effectively, efficiently and in the best interests of residents.  It is an 
important mechanism through which public accountability can be exercised. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications As addressed in the report 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

6. Appendix

Appendix A – Revised Policy Overview Committee Protocol

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Marie Kelly-Stone Legal Services 
Strategic 
Directorate 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO1

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL 

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the overview role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities.

Terms of Reference To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the 
ultimate aim of improving the delivery of services to local people.

To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough.

To review the impact of decisions and policy.

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 
Council (the GAC);

(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time.

Committee 
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member 
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully.

Compliance 
principles

The Committee will:
 Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the 

Strategic and Policy Framework;
 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council;

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO2

name;

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive review activities.

Membership Committee membership may include no more than one Cabinet member.

The Overview Process 

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview functions relating to 
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions.

1.What may be 
reviewed

1.1 Council policy development and budgetary framework [on the request of 
the GAC or Cabinet];

1.2 local improvement targets (other than crime and disorder); 

1.3 decisions/actions of key local public service providers;

1.4 performance of the Council  in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas;

1.5 any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford, by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.);

1.6 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough.

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of reviewing decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the review of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee:

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council;

 one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 
a ‘first come first served basis’.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO3

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for review purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These seven 
items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
review of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets, health service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the review of seven items in total, per Committee 
meeting.

 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participants to appear before the Committee will 
be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding 
bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

A.4 Where the Committee wish to review an item for the purposes of examining 
the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post implementation, 
drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future date. 

NB: The focus of the review in such circumstances will be concerned with 
the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee.

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up.

A.6 Although the Policy Overview Committee and Scrutiny Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Policy Overview 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 

B. Requests for 
information
B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 

notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will:

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 
information, research, data, statistics, etc.;



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO4

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 
topics to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will as 
appropriate, notify the Managing Director and link officer of the partner 
organisation.  Where the request for information relates to a Cabinet 
decision/action, the Managing Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be 
notified accordingly. 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).  

B.4 Information will be depersonalised or redacted, unless the identification of 
an individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee 
to properly exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the 
Data Protection Act 1998.  

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc.

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person.

B.7

B.8

B.9

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972, as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee.

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly.

To facilitate the overview process, a partner authority (as defined in 
Chapter 1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 (as amended)) is under a duty to pro-actively provide 
information to the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).  



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO5

C. Health Service 
Review

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended);

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local Healthwatch 
contractor;

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006.

C.1 The Committee may review any matter relating to the planning, provision 
and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

C.2 When reviewing the planning, provision and operation of the health service, 
the Committee must:

 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013) and
 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 

relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 
must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

C.3

C.4

C.5

The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this 
Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member or 
employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed.

Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO6

C.6 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

C.7 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section C.5 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

C.8 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  

D. Participants
D.1 The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 

review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee.

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided 
as to the nature and scope of the review:

Cabinet members and Council Officers

Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000).

Health Service review

A representative or employee of the Responsible Person may be required 
to attend Committee meetings to give evidence, make representations 
and/or answer questions in accordance with section C.4 of this Protocol.

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence. 

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO7

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors 

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors 
to assist the Committee in the process.

D.5

D.5A

Councillors who are not members of the Committee 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee.

Lead Members

Subject to sections D.7(a) and S.6 of this Protocol, Lead Members may be 
requested (but cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on their respective portfolios. 

D.6 The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of a 
participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly.

D.7 Participation Rules

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director.

(b) Subject to para.(a) of this section D.7 and section S.6 of this Protocol, 
any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee and with 
the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions 
or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio.

(c) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.

(d) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman (or nominee in 
the Shadow Chairman’s absence) (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a 
named Cabinet member/Lead Member(s) and Council Officer(s), and 
representative of a Responsible Person, or relevant body as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding 
bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

(e)Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants.

(f) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(g) and 
(h) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO8

their particular issues.

(g) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session.

(h) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not 
be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 
inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions.

(i) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence.

(j) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee.

(k) Participants may be asked to explain:

(i) what the policies are;

(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;

(iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met;

(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.

(l) Participants may be asked explain and justify;

 advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;

 decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet etc.

NB: As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for 
Officers to be politically neutral.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO9

E. Committee member 
business

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A of this Protocol, any 
Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 21A(1) 
Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply. 

F. The duty to have 
regard to reports/
recommendations

F.1
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it. 

F.2
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

F.3
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Overview Report and/or recommendations in accordance with section 
C.5 of this Protocol.

G. Regulatory bodies

G.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 
development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet.

G.2 The Committee will not review individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Review of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions.

G.3 Review of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply. 



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO10

H. Work programme

H.1
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council.

H.2
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided.

H.3
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes.

H.4
The Committee will respond as soon as its work programme permits to 
requests from the GAC and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Such requests/referrals may include a policy review study 
before the Cabinet formulates its policies for submission to the GAC for 
approval.  Reviews on the grounds of priority or emergency (example an 
announcement during the course of the municipal year or government 
policy or other initiative requiring early attention) may also be the subject of 
a referral from the GAC and/or the Cabinet.

H.5
In referring items for consideration by the Committee, the GAC and/or the 
Cabinet will identify the philosophy/reasoning behind the referral and will 
endeavour to provide the Committee with all relevant information on the 
subject matter under review.

J. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors

J.1
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups. 
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights.  
These persons will be regarded as invitees only and will not count for the 
purposes of establishing a quorum.

J.2 The criteria for selection will be;

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 
knowledge of the subject in question;

(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;

(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Responsible Person.

J.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 
with the principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including 
the requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

J.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

J.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO11

J.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

K. Overview reports 
and/or 
recommendations

K.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the local Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports.

K.2 The Overview Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the review exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations;

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s);

(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s).

K.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 
be detailed in the Overview Report.

K.4 The Overview Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body.

K.5 Where the Committee requests a response, the ‘relevant body’ is under an 
obligation to consider the Overview Report and/or recommendations and 
respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably 
possible) of the date of the Overview Report, in accordance with F. of this 
Protocol.

K.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of a ‘relevant body’, attend its 
meeting and present the Overview Report and answer questions.

K.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.  



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO12

K.8 If at all possible, Overview Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Overview Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Overview Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda.

K.9 Only one Overview Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration.

K.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

K.11 Overview Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment.

K.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates. 

L. Monitoring Officer 
reports 

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

M. Consideration of 
items at meetings
M.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 

consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:

 decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet, Officers and local 
health service bodies i.e. NHS Foundation trust etc.;

 local health service related issues;



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO13

 MAA economic strategy action plans;

 Draw downs;

 Key Decisions;

 any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 
functions;

 Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters);

 Minority member business;

 Policy Overview Committee member business;

 Monitoring progress of agreed actions;

 Members’ Information Bulletin. 

M.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

M.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

M.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

M.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If an overview/review investigation reveals 
potential disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter 
to the Managing Director.

M.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any overview/review investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be 
necessary to defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings 
have been dispensed with.

M.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council. 

N. Conduct of 
meetings
N.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 

exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

N.2 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO14

P. Task groups/
informal Member 
working groups

P.1. Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups 
will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally

P.2 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated with overview (which is the preserve of the 
Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may contribute to or 
inform the review process.

P.3 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply.

P.4 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary 
questions if necessary.

P.5 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

P.6 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance. 

P.7 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Managing 
Director for comment.

P.8 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director.

P.9 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. local health service, GAC and/or Cabinet, etc. with 
a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate.

P.10 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration.

Q. Sub-committees
Q.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees.

Q.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated with the 
overview function.



APPENDIX A

March 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol PO15

R. Monitoring agreed 
actions
R.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 

Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually.

R.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

S. Declarations of 
interest
S.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 

of Conduct.

S.2 Representatives from local health service body, other partners and 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct. 

S.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

S.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them. 

S.5 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules 
detailed in section S.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead 
Members who have been directly involved in policy development, may 
participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.  

S.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter.

T. Review of this 
Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required.





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Attached at Appendix A, is the proposed Work Plan for the Policy 
Overview Committee.

3.2. Susan Acott, Chief Executive of Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, 
will be attending this meeting in order to report on the work of the Trust 
and its future direction.

3.3. Steve Inett, the Chief Executive of Healthwatch Kent, will be attending 
this meeting to report on the services that they provide, and to also 
describe how their services relate to those being offered by other 
Health Service providers.

3.4. Ian Watts, Kent County Council’s Area Education Officer for North 
Kent, will be attending this meeting to brief Members on future Primary 
and Secondary school place provision in the Borough following the 
preparation of the ‘Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent 
for 2016-2020’.

3.5. Sharon Phillips from the Healthy Living Centre Dartford will be 
attending this meeting to provide an update on the work that is being 
carried out at the Centre.

3.6. It had been intended for Nick Scott, Head of Revenues and Benefits, to 
attend this meeting in order to provide a further update on welfare 
reform but, as there have been no significant changes since 
consideration of his previous report in December 2015, a written 
update has been included as part of this agenda instead. It is proposed 
that Mr Scott be invited to attend a meeting later in the year when there 
may be more to report.

3.7. A revised version of the Policy Overview Committee Protocol has been 
included as part of this agenda for adoption by Members.

3.8. With the Chairman’s agreement the intended visit by Pharmacy Service 
representatives has been rescheduled for July 2016 due to the number 
of items already scheduled for consideration at this meeting.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

3.9. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 15 December 2015, a 
further visit by representatives from Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) has been scheduled for 
June 2016.

3.10. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 15 December 2015, a 
further visit by Kent Public Health’s Director of Public Health has been 
scheduled for December 2016.

3.11. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 15 December 2015, 
consideration of the ‘Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual 
Report 2015/16’ has been scheduled for December 2015.

3.12. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 15 December 2015, 
consideration of the costs associated with the provision of temporary 
accommodation has been scheduled for June 2016.

3.13. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
8 MARCH 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A
POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN

March 2016 June 2016 September 2016 December 2016

Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Update Ebbsfleet Garden City Dementia Friendly 

Communities

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2015/16 and New Health 
Inequalities Action Plan

Healthwatch Kent
Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Performance Monitoring Kent Public Health Service

School Place Provision in 
Dartford Pharmacy Services Performance Monitoring

Healthy Living Centre 
Dartford

Review of Temporary 
Accommodation Spending 
Costs

Welfare Reform Update Policy Overview Annual 
Report 2015 - 2016

Policy Overview Committee 
Protocol Performance Monitoring

Performance Monitoring




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 15 December 2015
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 15 December 2015
	8 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
	9 Healthwatch Kent
	10 Education Provision in Dartford
	Education Provision APPENDIX A

	11 Healthy Living Centre Dartford
	Healthy Living Centre APPENDIX A

	12 Universal Credit Update
	13 Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A

	14 Policy Overview Committee Protocol & Lead Member Participation
	Lead Members and Overview APPENDIX A

	15 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A




